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MESSAGE FROM  
THE CHAIR AND 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Winnipeg Arts Council is located on Treaty 1 Territory and on the 
ancestral lands of the Anishinaabeg, Cree, Oji-Cree, Dakota and Dene 
Peoples and in the homeland of the Métis Nation. We acknowledge 

the role and importance of Indigenous people in the Canadian arts 
ecosystem.

Our keynote speaker at the 2018 Mayor’s Luncheon for the Arts, 
Chimwemwe Undi, spoke about what she called “the often-too-rote 
land acknowledgement at the beginning of woke arts events” and our 
host for the 2016 luncheon, singer/songwriter Leonard Sumner, chal-
lenged our community to not just say these words but to act on them. 
The Winnipeg Arts Council has listened and we have acted.

We identified two spheres associated with Reconciliation in which 
programming can contribute to making a difference: creative experi-
ence and education. The Public Art community programs, WITH ART and 
Youth WITH ART, have for years realized success engaging Indigenous-
based communities and pairing artists with those communities to 
achieve creative voice. But in 2018, the Public Art Program took a major 
step by commissioning public art by contemporary Indigenous artists 
in central downtown Winnipeg, and Arts Development set in motion 
the Indigenous Arts Leadership Fellows program with the introduction 
of the first two Fellows.

More than three years before the project opened in September 
2018, the Winnipeg Arts Council undertook a Canada-wide consulta-
tion with Indigenous artists, Elders, Knowledge Keepers, curators and 
scholars—what should guide the creation of new public artworks by 
Indigenous artists in downtown Winnipeg? The response was unan-
imous and the title, THIS PLACE on Treaty 1 Territory & the Homeland 
of the Métis Nation, completely captures that generous advice. This 
major public art project builds on efforts to create awareness of the 
rich Indigenous cultures, peoples and heritage that are at the roots of 
our territory, city and province. The artworks, having been created by 
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Indigenous contemporary artists and being about this place, give signif-
icant and permanent voice and meaning that is defined by Indigenous 
people themselves. 

Each of the artists—Rebecca Belmore and Osvaldo Yero, Kenneth 
Lavallee, Julie Nagam and Rolande Souliere – provides a singular vision 
that enhances the theme and contributes a distinctive aspect to the 
story of THIS PLACE. 

However, this is only a beginning and, as we look to the comple-
tion of Public Art projects in the next two years and into the future, 
Indigenous artists figure prominently.

The aim of the Indigenous Arts Leadership Fellows program is to 
provide opportunities to First Nations, Métis and Inuit Winnipeggers 
in the field of arts administration. The program was created by the 
Winnipeg Arts Council and developed through an extensive consul-
tation process across Canada and in Winnipeg. Fellows receive work 
experience and participate in Indigenous-led collaborative training. 
Congratulations to Seraph-Eden Boroditsky, who has joined the team at 
the Royal Manitoba Theatre Centre, and Niamh Dooley, who is working 
with the staff of Martha Street Studio.

The Asham Stompers at THIS PLACE 

Launch and Celebration. Photo by  

D Works Media. 
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In 2018, as a producing partner of Nuit Blanche, the Winnipeg Arts 
Council not only supported the artworks in the Illuminate the Night 
series, but invited all of Winnipeg to come play with us! The presentation 
of Impulse, a family-friendly publicly activated series of illuminated see-
saws, made Old Market Square a memorable experience of motion, light 
and sound. Impulse was created by Lateral Office and CS Design (Toronto) 
and was first presented by the Quartier des Spectacles Partnership in 
Montreal.

While 2018 provided a stunning number of public events, all of 
the grant programs, Public Art projects and Arts Development pro-
grams were delivered as planned. In a positive move, well received 
by Winnipeg artists, Individual Grants available in each category were 
increased to $7,000 and $3,000. 

Mass Appeal concerts were performed by and for the public. 
Ukuleles, strings, accordions, singers and percussion appeared in five 
varied city locations, to the surprise and delight of both participants 
and audience. Enthusiastic Winnipeggers turned out in large numbers. 
They sang, strummed, played and even danced in the rain. 

Our first Poet Laureate, Di Brandt, organized a wonderful event 
to celebrate World Poetry Week at which a representation of poetry 
from many of Winnipeg’s diverse communities was read for the enjoy-
ment of an entranced audience at the Gas Station Theatre. She went on 

1

1. Impulse at Nuit Blanche. 

Photo by  Liz Tran courtesy of 

Nuit Blanche Winnipeg. 

2. Mass Appeal, Percussion at 

Pantages Playhouse Plaza. 

Photo by Matt Duboff.
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to charm those in attendance at the 
Mayor’s Luncheon for the Arts with an 
irreverent poem dedicated to Portage 
and Main.

The Mayor’s Luncheon for the 
Arts welcomed more than 500 guests 
this year, and Mayor Bowman spoke 
passionately about how culture con-
tributes to our economy. The strength 
of the Winnipeg arts community was 
on display with a truly impressive 
group of nominees for the annual 
Winnipeg Arts Council Awards. 

The City of Winnipeg continued 
to invest in Winnipeg’s artists and 
arts organizations through the an-
nual allocation to the Winnipeg Arts 
Council. As always, all the funds avail-
able were maximized and distributed 
to more than 200 artists and arts or-

ganizations in Winnipeg at a lower administration cost than that of any 
other public funder across the country. 

The City is to be commended on this commitment, but neverthe-
less, the Winnipeg Arts Council will persist with the goal of doubling 
funds to the arts over the next five years. This is not impossible, but 
meeting the goal will take vision, values and determination to make it 
happen. What would be done with double the funding? Double invest-
ment in Winnipeg’s creativity, in artists’ endeavours and the capacity 
of arts organizations to serve audiences, will double the opportunities 
Winnipeggers have to experience and enjoy the quality of life the arts 
provide. As cited in the Mayor’s 2018 Luncheon remarks, the economy 
will only benefit. Cities across Canada, particularly western Canada, are 
making this investment. Winnipeg should not be left behind.

The arts community remains optimistic. The board and the staff of 
the Winnipeg Arts Council share that optimism.  

MESSAGE

Carol A. Phillips 
EXECUTIVE D IRECTOR  WINNIPEG ARTS COUNCIL

Jim August
CHAIR ,  BOARD OF D IRECTORS  WINNIPEG ARTS COUNCIL

2
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THIS PLACE  
ON TREATY 1 TERRITORY  
AND THE HOMELAND  
OF THE MÉTIS NATION 

Located in downtown Winnipeg, in Air Canada Park at the corner 
of Portage Avenue at Carlton Street, this major public art project 
builds on efforts to create awareness of the rich Indigenous cultures, 

people and heritage at the roots of our territory, city and province, and 
to highlight ongoing issues affecting Indigenous communities. For this 
project, artists were asked to respond to the idea of this place on Treaty 
No. 1 territory and the homeland of the Métis nation. The artists’ reflec-
tions range in concept and expression. As a place of community and 
gathering in downtown Winnipeg, the artworks located in this park 
make a significant mark in the city. As part of this project, the Winnipeg 
Arts Council commissioned Métis writer and curator Cathy Mattes to 
write a response to the artworks, which was published in a booklet and 
distributed around Winnipeg.

As a signatory of Winnipeg’s Indigenous Accord, the Winnipeg 
Arts Council, as an institution, is concerned with the importance of 
decolonizing through public art. The form and intent of this project 
were shaped through a national consultation with Indigenous artists 
and with the Mayor’s Indigenous Advisory Circle, as well as through a 
Winnipeg-based gathering with Indigenous artists, Elders, knowledge 
keepers, curators, and scholars. These artworks, having been created 

CET ENDROIT sur le territoire visé par le Traité no 1 et la patrie de la Nation métisse

OOMA LA PLAAS iita li territwayr di traytii noomayroo hen pi iita kaa wiikichik la naasyoon lii Michif   

ÓMA ÓTA Nistom iskonikon ká takok éko owíkiwáw anikik Ápitawikosisának

OMAA EYAAMAGAK Nitam Agwi’idiwin Akiin zhigwa Wiisaakodewininiwag Eyaawaad
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by Indigenous contemporary 
artists and being about this 
place, give significant and per-
manent voice and meaning that 
is defined by Indigenous people 
themselves. 

THIS PLACE on Treaty 1 
Territory and the Homeland of 
the Métis Nation was officially 
launched with a free concert 
on September 28, 2018. It was 

unseasonably cold and windy, but that didn’t keep Winnipeggers away. 
Communities came together to celebrate these new works and were 
treated to traditional and contemporary performances by Indigenous 
artists including Ray (Co-Co) Stephenson & the Walking Wolf Singers, 
throat singer Nikki Komaksiutiksak, the Asham Stompers, Leonard 
Sumner and the Help Wanteds. Comedian Gerry Barrett entertained as 
Ojibwe Elvis and kept everything running smoothly. All the artists were 
present to speak about their work and the stories the artworks tell.  

3
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1

1. Mayor Brian Bowman and 

artist Kenneth Lavallee. 

2. Artist Julie Nagam and 

children. 

3. Artist Rolande Souliere  

with Mediating the Treaties. 

All photos by D Works Media.
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O-ween du muh waun. (We were told.) 
RBOY Inc. (Rebecca Belmore and Osvaldo Yero) 
Weathering steel and concrete

“We chose to install this sculpture here in this place called Winipi 
Manitowapow, a gathering place for many nations and home to two 
rivers that meet.

The work is a symbol of the failed attempts to assimilate us. We 
were told to be more like them. It is an “anti-monument” to a forced 
colonial education. Instead, it speaks to knowledge that comes from 
culture, from tradition. The stack of school chairs on a concrete table 
is deliberately overturned to signify an ending, finality—like the “ivory 
tower” paradigm of colonial knowledge that Indigenous communities, 
every day, turns on its head.

O-ween du muh waun. The time of being told is over.” 
—Rebecca Belmore and Osvaldo Yero

Mediating the Treaties
Rolande Souliere
Stainless steel with digital print and granite

“Mediating the Treaties uses a two-headed coin to capture the ambiv-
alence of Treaty No. 1. It addresses the verbal and written negotiations 
and differing and competing understandings of Treaty No. 1 provisions 
between Queen Victoria’s (1819–1901) representatives and the sev-
en Chiefs of Manitoba including Chiefs Miskookenew (Red Eagle or 
Henry Prince, 1819–1899) and Kakekapenais (Forever Bird or William 
Pennefather or Mann, 1816–1897/1898).”                    —Rolande Souliere

Electrical Currents
Julie Nagam
Steel and glass

“Water is the life force or the essence of Manitoba, and the Northern 
section of the province is home to some of the strongest and larg-
est hydroelectric developments in North America. In the south, we 
consume electricity without knowledge of the land that is developed 
and the predominantly First Nations and Métis communities that are 
deeply affected. As consumers, we need to continue to work towards 
sustainable energy consumption. This sculpture brings these issues to 
light using glass cast rocks with engraved petroglyphs, the Métis family 
floral pattern, the chevron water graphics and the abstract water turbine 
with the overall message that water is sacred and should be consumed 
and maintained with care.”       —Julie Nagam

THIS PLACE ON TREATY 1 TERRITORY AND THE HOMELAND OF THE MÉTIS NATION

1
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The Square Dancers
Kenneth Lavallee
Powder coated steel

“Square dancing, or jigging, is the traditional dance of the Métis people 
of Manitoba. Performed to uptempo fiddle music and characterized by 
fancy footwork and limited upper body movement, the dancing con-
tinues today and remains a symbol of the resilience and optimism of 
the Métis people during Canada’s formative years.” —Kenneth Lavallee

“Together, the four sculptural works created for THIS PLACE in Air Canada 
Park create a welcoming and engaging space to visitors. They are layered 
in meaning, and prompt contemplation about Indigenous experiences 
on this land. They encourage visitors to gather, visit with one another, 
and contribute to the activation of space. The works complement each 
other, and present a cohesive story of Indigenous presence, and our 
contributions to the city of Winnipeg. While being anti-monuments, 
these artworks honour the ancestors and their living descendants. They 
assert presence in the face of absence, and provide visual remedy to 
downtown Winnipeg.”                  —Cathy Mattes 

(Michif, southwest Manitoba), excerpted from  
Sites of Visual Remedy and the Air Canada Park in Downtown Winnipeg

2
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1. Artist Rebecca Belmore  

with O-ween du muh waun. 

(We were told.)

2. Throat singers Nikki 

Komaksiutiksak and  

Aleatra Sammurtok.  

3. Ray (Co-Co) Stevenson 

Walking Wolf Singers & 

Dancers. 

3. Shanley Spence, Ray  

(Co-Co) Stevenson Walking 

Wolf Singers & Dancers. 

All photos by D Works Media.
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Public art is like an iceberg. When looking at the finished product, 
an artwork with which the public engages in its completed state, 
you might imagine the body of activity below the surface—years 

of coordination, production, fabrication, problem-solving and installa-
tion, as well as the many, many people who work hard on their part in 
realizing the artwork. 

COMMISSIONS
This year, the Winnipeg Arts Council was excited to celebrate THIS PLACE 
on Treaty 1 Territory and the Homeland of the Métis Nation, a project whose 
planning began in 2015. 

“Artists were asked to consider Indigenous people’s contributions 
to the city and that Winnipeg is on Treaty No. 1 land and the homeland 
of the Métis. In response, Rebecca Belmore and Osvaldo Yero, Kenneth 
Lavallee, Julie Nagam, and Rolande Souliere created artworks that col-
lectively share stories about Indigenous engagement with the land and 
ways of being with one another. The artists recognize the park as a con-
temporary gathering site, and a space for contemplation and learning 
about Indigenous histories on this land now called Winnipeg.” —Cathy 
Mattes (Michif, southwest Manitoba), excerpted from Sites of Visual 
Remedy and the Air Canada Park in Downtown Winnipeg. See pages 6 & 7 
for more information on this landmark project. 

In addition to these four new works downtown, other commis-
sions were installed and/or celebrated across the city in West Kildonan, 
Windsor Park, Old St. Vital and St. Boniface.

The local team of artist Takashi Iwasaki and Nadi Design worked to-
gether to create Bokeh, a playful and functional artwork for the Kildonan 
Park Pond. Inspired by the whimsical nature of the park and the mod-
ernist architecture of the adjacent Peguis Pavilion, the artwork is colour-
ful and sculptural in the summer and projects rainbow-coloured lights 

PUBLIC ART
NOT JUST THE TIP OF  
THE ICEBERG…
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on the pond’s skating area in the dark of winter. Plans are underway 
for celebrating this work with the community at a family skating party 
early in the new year. 

Tributaries by Simon Hughes was installed in the summer of 2017 
while the new Windsor Park Library was under construction. It opened 
to the public along with the new library in the spring of 2018. This mo-
saic is made up of over 60,000 custom tiles and is a solvable maze that 
references a network of waterways, the human brain, a suburban devel-
opment, and an earlier and now-destroyed Winnipeg public artwork. It 
is intended to show the process of learning and acquiring information, 
which is what a library is fundamentally about. While trying to solve 
the maze, library visitors can also search for stylized images of things 
you might see in Canada, like a crocus flower, a great grey owl, or an 
evergreen forest hidden within the mosaic, or on a printed handout 
available at the library.

The lit canoes of Collin Zipp’s sculpture, Watershed, were officially 
launched on National Canoe Day, June 26, 2018. While the canoes had 
been installed in November of 2017, the redevelopment of the transit 

PUBLIC ART
NOT JUST THE TIP OF  
THE ICEBERG…

2

1

SOLVE THE MAZE!

FIND THE HIDDEN PICTURES!
Hidden in the walls of the labyrinth are ten things you 
might see in Canada. They are a bit abstract: that is, 
they look a little different than these pictures, so that 
they match the style of the artwork. Try to find all ten!

Created through the Winnipeg Arts Council’s Public Art Program in collaboration with Winnipeg Public Library.              Collection of the City of Winnipeg

Tributaries by artist Simon Hughes is a mosaic: an artwork made 
up of many, many tiny ceramic tiles. It is there to be looked at, but 
did you know it is also a real maze you can solve?

Owl

START

FINISH

Flock of 
seagulls Gemstone Encampment  

of tipis

Family  
of Canada 
geese

Forest of  
evergreen 
trees

Ie cave Crocus 
flower Icebergs Wavy  

river

3

1. Tributaries. Photo by k.m.a. 

2. Artist Takashi Iwasaki  

with Bokeh. Photo by Meaghan 

Hunter. 

3. Tributaries puzzle hand out. 
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plaza at the intersection of St. Anne’s and St. Mary’s Roads, a collab-
orative process between the artist, the BIZ’s design team, and HTFC 
Planning and Design, took place the following spring. The plaza design 
complements and highlights the artwork, providing a focal point for 
both vehicular and pedestrian traffic. The circular planters reference 
ripples in water, and the planters and river lot paving pick up on the 
existing Old St. Vital BIZ streetscape elements while adding the subtle 
but playful rings in the pavement. The maple trees, along with shrubs, 
grasses and annuals, provide a soft backdrop for the corner, working to 
enhance and complement the public art.  

As part of the Taché Promenade project, a collaboration between 
the City of Winnipeg, Enterprises Riel, The Winnipeg Foundation, and the 
St. Boniface Foundation, WAC commissioned Franco-Manitoban artist 
Marcel Gosselin to create an artwork to be integrated in the Belvédère 
Saint-Boniface, a widened promenade-style walkway. Gosselin’s lit 
beacon PHARE OUEST (FAR WEST) was installed in December 2018 and 
responds to the colonial history of the area. This project was managed 
on WAC’s behalf by HTFC Planning & Design.

WITH ART & YOUTH WITH ART
Through the Winnipeg Arts Council’s WITH ART & Youth WITH ART com-
munity public art program, professional artists work closely with com-
munity members to create meaningful collaborative public art projects. 
Three projects were completed in 2018, with many more in development. 

Working with storyteller Leigh-Anne Kehler, Sunshine House partic-
ipants shared stories about outdoor urban spaces that provide a window 

21

4

3

1. Watershed. Photo by  

D Works Media.  

2. PHARE OUEST (FAR WEST). 

Photo by Lindsey Bond.  

3. Healthy Relationships 101, 

Youth WITH ART public 

celebration. Photo by  

Lindsey Bond.  

4. Memor-Eyes. Photo  

by k.m.a. 
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into the lives of people who may not have a comfortable home 
to rest in. Old suitcases were filled with photos taken on group 
visits to St. John’s Park, Garbage Hill and the Alexander Docks 
and presented at the Goodwill Social Club on February 11. With 
added taglines and bits of poetry, the non-linear narratives 
were often humorous, while hinting at deeper meanings. Many 
participants revealed that they hadn’t seen themselves in pho-
tos for years, and a common theme emerged of remembering 
friends and feeling safe to be themselves without judgement. 
Some of the best storytelling came out as they shared personal 
biographies.

Teen Talk Peer Supporters and hip hop artist Patrick Pip 
Skid Skene reflected on what it means to build healthy rela-
tionships in the face of a culture that often portrays unhealthy 
and abusive relationships as the norm. Starting with conver-
sations about communication, trust, consent, mutual respect, 
boundaries, self-care, and compassion, participants produced 
an outpouring of artistic expression that they shared at a vari-
ety show. On May 19, the public was treated to poetry readings, 
live music, trivia games and a fashion show at the West End 
Cultural Centre.

A series of trail signs featuring traditional and contem-
porary responses to the Seven Teachings of the Anishinaabeg 
created by neighbourhood youth was installed along Bunn’s 
Creek in the fall. Youth who attend Knowles Centre pro-
grams worked with artist Becky Thiessen experimenting 
with a range of materials and techniques that they trans-
formed into collaborative digital collages. These contem-
porary collages were paired with traditional wood carvings 
and installed as part of a larger trail sign project created 
with John G. Stewart School and Winnipeg’s Parks and Open 
Spaces Department, and supported by a contribution from 
Councillor Jeff Browaty. 

NUIT BLANCHE
Building on WAC’s relationship with Nuit Blanche Winnipeg as pro-
ducing partner, we presented Impulse by Lateral Office and CS Design, 
a major family-friendly installation in Old Market Square. The illumi-
nated seesaws invited the public to play and create dynamic light and 
sound waves that gave a pulse to Old Market Square. It was the hit of 
Nuit Blanche, delighting the 25,000 festival goers on September 29 
and continuing to animate the Exchange District through to October 3. 

PUBLIC ART

6

5

7

5, 6. Along the Creek. Photos  

by D Works Media.

7. Impulse at Nuit Blanche. 

Photo by Lindsey Bond.
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NEW CAPITAL WORKS PROJECT
Major engagements that integrated public art into capital projects 
continued this year with the announcement of a National Call to Artists 
for the Waverley Underpass Public Art Project. This collaboration, part of 
the replacement of the existing at-grade railway crossing at Waverley 
and Taylor, will commission an artist or team to create a permanent 
public artwork on the sloped area southeast of the proposed Waverley 
Underpass project. This project is scheduled to be completed and 
launched in 2020, and received exceptional support from Councillor 
John Orlikow.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND OUTREACH
The Winnipeg Arts Council is committed to sharing public art with as 
many people as possible, and we work hard to find new ways to make 
the collection visible and accessible. This year, we hired Public Art Tour 
Guide Sarah Hodges-Kolisnyk, who led 285 participants on 22 walking 
and cycling tours throughout the streets of Winnipeg. In the winter, 
our public art bus tours sold out immediately, with busloads of eager 
Winnipeggers braving the cold dark nights to enjoy light-based public 
artworks. Public art staff also led several private tours for public art en-
thusiasts, including the Grey Hares, AESES, students from the University 
of Manitoba, and Canadian Public Art Funders. 

Public Art staff were invited to present on Winnipeg’s Public 
Art Collection and Program and to consult on other public art initia-
tives. Illustrated presentations were made locally at the University of 
Manitoba, Creative Manitoba and the Manitoba Federation of Non-Profit 
Organizations’ Doorway to Integrating Arts in Your Work, as well as at 
the Creative City Summit in Mississauga and as part of the Innovation 
Showcase to the international crowd at the inaugural Future Cities 
conference in Toronto. Staff participated in the Downtown Winnipeg 
BIZ Placemaking Committee and Chinatown Banner Jury, the City of 
Winnipeg Indigenous Accord All Partner Gathering and Indigenous History 
& Educational Displays Working Group, the Public Advisory Committee 
for the Route 90 expansion, CentreVenture’s Marketlands Development, 
and the Creative City Network’s national Public Art Network. 

RECOGNITION
Two works from 2017 were recognized as outstanding projects by Public 
Art Year in Review programs this year. Social Seed by Gurpreet Sehra and 
the NorWest Co-op was juried into showcases at both the Americans for 
the Arts Annual Convention and at the Canadian Creative City Summit, 
where Tributaries by Simon Hughes was also celebrated.

PUBLIC ART
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CHENGDU SISTER CITIES
The City of Chengdu, China hosted International Sister 
Cities Sculpture Creation and Exhibition in April of 
2018. They invited their sister cities around the world, 
including Winnipeg, to nominate one local artist to 
visit Chengdu and to design a permanent outdoor 
sculpture for their new eco-park as part of the exhi-
bition Chengdu in the World and the World in Chengdu. 
The Winnipeg Arts Council selected Winnipeg art-
ist Kenneth Lavallee to participate on behalf of our 
city. While in Chengdu, Kenneth, along with 40 artists 
from other international sister cities, toured cultural institutions, historic 
villages, artistic residences, the Chengdu Research Base of Giant Panda 
Breeding, and the construction site of a new artist-run centre, residences 
and fabrication factory, where the Sister City sculptures will be fabricated. 
Kenneth will be designing a large-scale sculpture to represent, celebrate 
and solidify the friendship between our two vastly different cities, which, 
as the artist states, share some interesting cultural and economic parallels. 
Councillor Jeff Browaty brought the Chengdu project to the attention of 
the Winnipeg Arts Council.

COLLECTION MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE
Management and maintenance of our collection of more than 60 public 
artworks is an ongoing project. Long-term care is critical for all artworks, 
whether they exist in the ever-changing digital realm or outdoors in the 
80-degree variability of Winnipeg weather. A maintenance reserve is set 
aside for repairs and conservation of each artwork, and this year, WAC 
drew upon these reserves to fix and spruce up many of our artworks 
based on a review and recommendations from a professional conservator. 

COLLABORATIVE PROCESS
We cannot emphasize enough how much public art is a collaborative 
process and how many people contribute to the success of each project. 
It is a privilege to work closely with artists to bring meaning to our public 
spaces. We also benefit from the contributions of City staff, project part-
ners, and the talented fabricators, engineers, designers, craftspeople, 
electricians, metal workers, and landscapers who work creatively with 
our artists to realize our shared vision.

1 2
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1. Installing Bokeh. Photo by 

Meaghan Hunter.  

2. Fabricating The Square 

Dancers. Photo by Kenneth 

Lavallee.  

3. Maintaining The Spence 

Community Compass: Finding 

Home. Photo by Walleye  

Art Services.   



W I N N I P E G  A R T S  C O U N C I L16

PROJECTS COMPLETED 
IN 2018
Memor-Eyes
WITH ART: Leigh-Anne Kehler 
with Sunshine House
COMMISSION: $17,000  
(2015 allocation)
PUBLIC CELEBRATION:  

February 11, 2018

Tributaries
ARTIST: Simon Hughes
COMMISSION: $118,000  
(2015 allocation)
PUBLIC CELEBRATION:  

April 17, 2018

Healthy Relationships 101
Youth WITH ART: Patrick Pip Skid 
Skene with Teen Talk Peer 
Support
COMMISSION: $17,000  
(WAC operating budget)
PUBLIC CELEBRATION:  

May 19, 2018

THIS PLACE on Treaty 1 
Territory and the Homeland  
of the Métis Nation
(2014 allocation, with 
additional support from the 
Government of Canada)
PUBLIC CELEBRATION:  

September 28, 2018

O-ween du muh waun.  
(We were told.)
ARTISTS: RBOY Inc. (Rebecca 
Belmore and Osvaldo Yero)
COMMISSION: $200,000

Mediating the Treaties
ARTIST: Rolande Souliere
COMMISSION: $200,000

The Square Dancers
ARTIST: Kenneth Lavallee
COMMISSION: $100,000

Electrical Currents
ARTIST: Julie Nagam 
COMMISSION: $100,000

Impulse
ARTISTS: Lateral Office with CS 
Design, produced by Quartier 
des Spectacles
COLLABORATION: $45,000 
OPEN TO THE PUBLIC:  

September 29–October 4, 
2018

Along the Creek
Youth WITH ART: Becky Thiessen 
with Knowles Centre
COMMISSION: $17,000  
(WAC operating budget) 
In collaboration with John  
G. Stewart School and Parks 
and Open Space Division,  
with support from Councillor 
Jeff Browaty
PUBLIC CELEBRATION:  

December 11, 2018

Bokeh
ARTISTS: Takashi Iwasaki with 
Nadi Design
COMMISSION: $160,200  
(2016 allocation, with 
additional support from 
Councillor Devi Sharma)
Completed December 2018
Public Celebration planned for 
January 2019

PHARE OUEST (FAR WEST)
ARTIST: Marcel Gosselin
COMMISSION: $140,000  
(2018 allocation) 
Completed December 2018
Public Celebration planned for 
Spring 2019

PROJECTS IN PROGRESS

SOUTHWEST RAPID TRANSIT, 
SEVEN PROJECTS
Management Agreement with 
Winnipeg Transit, Plenary, and 
PCL through Public Private 
Partnership
Public Celebrations planned 
for Spring 2020 to coincide 
with the opening of the 
Southwest Rapid Transitway

Jubilee Overpass & Beaumont 
Station
ARTIST: Ian August
COMMISSION: $224,000 
EXPECTED COMPLETION:  

2019

PUBLIC ART
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McGillivray Overpass  
& Seel Station
ARTIST: Jeanette Johns
COMMISSION: $224,000
EXPECTED COMPLETION: 2019

Clarence Station
ARTISTS: Public City 
Architecture and Urban Ink
COMMISSION: $111,000
EXPECTED COMPLETION:  

2019

Chevrier Station
ARTIST: Bill Burns
COMMISSION: $111,000
EXPECTED COMPLETION:  

2019

Plaza Station
ARTISTS: Cindy Mochizuki and 
Kelty McKinnon (PFS Studio)
COMMISSION: $129,000
EXPECTED COMPLETION:  

2019

Bishop Grandin Overpass & 
Chancellor Station
ARTIST: Warren Carther
COMMISSION: $224,000
EXPECTED COMPLETION:  2019

Markham Station
ARTIST: Tiffany Shaw-Collinge
COMMISSION: $129,000
EXPECTED COMPLETION: 2019

1919 Streetcar in Pantages 
Plaza
ARTISTS: Bernie Miller and 
Noam Gonick
COMMISSION: TBD  
(2017 allocation, with 
additional support from 
the Government of Canada, 
Manitoba Federation of 
Labour and Manitoba’s Unions, 
CentreVenture, The Winnipeg 
Foundation, Amalgamated 
Transit Union, IATSE Local 856, 
IATSE Canada, and Unifor)
EXPECTED COMPLETION: 

Summer 2019

Cornish Library Project
ARTIST: Michael Dumontier
COMMISSION: $121,000  
(2015 allocation)
EXPECTED COMPLETION: Spring 
2020 

Broadway Light-Based Project
ARTIST: Eduardo Aquino 
COMMISSION: $250,000 (2018 
allocation, with additional 
support from the Downtown 
Winnipeg BIZ)
EXPECTED COMPLETION:  

Fall 2020

Waverley Underpass 
ARTIST: TBD
COMMISSION: $326,000 
(Public Works independent 
management agreement, 
with additional support from 
Councillor John Orlikow)
EXPECTED COMPLETION:  

Fall 2020 

WITH ART & Youth WITH ART
The following collaborative 
projects are in various stages 
of development; each project 
receives a total of $17,000*:

• Filmmaker Randy Guest with 
Palliative Manitoba

• Playwright Ellen Peterson with 
Siloam Mission Education and 
Volunteer Services youth

• Filmmaker Jim Agapito with 
Ndinawe Youth Resource Centre

• Musician Lindsey White with 
G.R.O.W. (Gaining Resources Our 
Way)

• Ceramic artist Jennie O’Keefe with 
17 Wing Personnel Support Services 
youth

• Interdisciplinary artist Natasha 
Halayda with Fort Whyte Farms 
(Youth)

• Mosaic artist Ursula Neufeld with 
Luxton School (Youth)

• Multidisciplinary artist Val T. Vint 
with John Howard Society

• Writer Sharon Chisvin with 
Winnipeg Trails Association

*The budget was increased to $18,000 

for WITH ART projects beginning in 

2018.

PUBLIC ART



W I N N I P E G  A R T S  C O U N C I L18

GRANTS 
PROGRAMMING

TOTAL APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

324
TOTAL FUNDS REQUESTED 

$5,007,705
TOTAL GRANTS AWARDED 

180
TOTAL GRANT FUNDS AWARDED 

$3,979,410

With a focus on artistic excellence and community impact, the 
Winnipeg Arts Council supports opportunities for the people of 
Winnipeg to engage with the arts as artists, audiences and partic-

ipants. In total, WAC invested $3,979,410 in the Winnipeg arts commu-
nity through peer-assessed grant programs, allowing the Winnipeg Arts 
Council to respond to evolving practice and the needs of Winnipeg’s 
diverse artistic community. 

Our programs support a diverse array of arts organizations, collec-
tives and individual artists in all artistic disciplines. The Winnipeg Arts 
Council regularly conducts program reviews to improve the application 
and assessment process and the impact of grant programs on clients, 
as well as to provide opportunities to engage new and/or underserved 
Winnipeg artists and arts organizations. 

In 2018, the eligible grant amounts in the Individual Artist grant 
program were increased and a study was undertaken to map the areas 
of Winnipeg where programming supported by the Winnipeg Arts 
Council takes place.
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GRANTS 
PROGRAMMING

1 2

3

6 7

4 5

1. Reza Rezaï, Boys, 2017.  2. Gabriela Aguero, Forest Spirit (Edinburgh Portrait Series), 2016.  3. Niamh Dooley, From Heart to 

Ancestors and The Land, 2018.  4. Alexis Dirks, Womxn Stage, Live performance with Charismatic Megafauna, 2017. Photo 

by Alexis Dirks.  5. Brian Hunter, Gut Feeling, 2018. Photo by Karen Asher.  6. Diana Thorneycroft, Black Forest (dark waters), 

2018. Photo by Kevin Bertram.  7. Bev Pike, Gazing Pond Chamber, 2018. Photo by Robert Barrow. 
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GRANTS PROGRAMMING

1

5

11

2

6

8

9 10

7

4

3

1. Samantha Hill in Gracie by Joan MacLeod, Prairie Theatre Exchange, 2018. Photo by Leif Norman.  2. Winnipeg International Children’s 

Festival, 2018. Photo by Leif Norman.  3. Festival du Voyageur, 2018. Photo by Dan Harper Photography.  4. Manitoba Theatre for Young 

People, The House at Pooh Corner, 2018. Photo by Mike Peters.  5. aceartinc., Dagmara Genda, Everything that’s Lost, 2017. Photo by Karen Asher.  

6. Boniface performs at the Winnipeg Centennial Folk Festival, 2018. Photo by Ally Gonzalo.  7. Folk Arts Council of Winnipeg, 2018. Photo 

by Dwayne Larson.  8. NAfro Dance Productions, Mapiko, 2017. Photo by Leif Norman.  9. Plug In Institute of Contemporary Art, Białystok, 

Przemek Pyszczek, 2018. Photo by Karen Asher.  10. Melanie Whyte and Ellen Peterson in Fly Me to the Moon by Marie Jones, Prairie Theatre 

Exchange, 2018. Photo by Leif Norman.  11. Manito Ahbee Pow Wow – Tiny Tots Jingle Dress, 2018. Photo by Jen Doerkson.  12. Manitoba 

Opera, Angel Blue (Violetta), La Traviata, 2018. Photo by Robert Tinker.  13. Jazz Winnipeg, The Flaming Lips, 2018. Photo by Mike Sudoma.   
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12

15

14

17

19 20 21

22

18

13

16

14. Video Pool Media Arts Centre, Experiments in projection mapping by Jackie Huskisson, 2018. Photo by Kelsey Braun.   

15. The Little Opera Company, Zoe Gotziaman and Spencer Duncanson in The Confused Castrato, 2018. Photo by Heather 

Milne.  16. Royal Manitoba Theatre Centre, John Ng and Daniel Chen in Nine Dragons by Jovanni Sy, 2017. Photo by Tim Nguyen.   

17. WNDX, Miss Edmonton Teenburger 1983 in It’s Party time!, Amy Lockhart, 2011.  18. Royal Winnipeg Ballet, The Handmaid’s Tale 

(based on the novel by Margaret Atwood), 2018. Photo by Daniel Crump.  19. Frances Koncan wins the Reg Skene Award for 

Playwriting. Photo courtesy of the Manitoba Association of Playwrights.  20. Manitoba Craft Council, Shards, performance by KC 

Adams and Jaime Black, 2017. Photo by Leif Norman.  21. Manitoba Choral Association, EastMan Youth Choir at the Legislature, 

2017. Photo by Mikayla Patenaude.  22. Manitoba Craft Council, Shards, KC Adams and Jaime Black, 2017. Photo by Leif Norman.
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ARTS  
DEVELOPMENT

Connecting communities and ensuring that all citizens have the 
opportunity to participate in the arts are the objectives of the 
Winnipeg Arts Council’s Arts Development programs.  Beginning in 

2010 with the designation of our city as the Cultural Capital of Canada, 
the Winnipeg Arts Council has continued to program and partner with a 
variety of organizations to facilitate free and accessible arts experiences 
in all areas of the city.  

CULTURE DAYS AND NUIT BLANCHE
Culture Days is a national annual celebration that aims to raise the 
awareness, accessibility, participation and engagement of all Canadians 
in the arts and cultural life of their communities. Occurring on the same 
weekend is Nuit Blanche, a free exploration and celebration of contem-
porary art throughout downtown Winnipeg. In 2018, approximately 
45,000 Winnipeggers took part in these activities, which ranged from 
dance lessons to film screenings to visual exhibitions to walking tours, 
and everything in between. 

The Winnipeg Arts Council takes an active role as the producing 
partner for Nuit Blanche Winnipeg. In addition to a financial contri-
bution, WAC provides artistic and organizational expertise in the pro-
gramming of contemporary art. In 2018, this involvement took a major 
step forward with the addition of new high-profile, free accessible 
artworks that were presented by the Winnipeg Arts Council as part of 
Nuit Blanche.

MASS APPEAL
In its third year, Mass Appeal brought free concerts performed by and 
for the general public to spaces throughout Winnipeg. A mixture of new 
events and perennial favourites marked the 2018 program. A ukulele 
orchestra performed beside the duck pond at St. Vital Park, while a 
choir, backed by a full band, serenaded travellers on the arrivals level of 
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ARTS  
DEVELOPMENT

Winnipeg International Airport with a program of songs on the theme of 
home. Other events included a homemade percussion jam at Pantages 
Plaza, accordions at Red River College, and a collection of violins, violas, 
and cellos in the Millennium Library lobby. 

URBAN IDEA
The Winnipeg Arts Council manages Urban Idea, a project-based or-
ganization that explores the relationship between the arts and the 
city.  Urban Idea is a founding partner, with the Winnipeg Architecture 
Foundation, of the Architecture + Design Film Festival, and in 2018, 
A+DFF celebrated its seventh edition.

1 2

3

4 5

1. Mass Appeal, Accordions  

at Red River College. Photo  

by Matt Duboff.  

2, 3. Mass Appeal, Ukuleles  

at St. Vital Park. Photos by 

Matt Duboff.   

4. Mass Appeal, Choir at 

Winnipeg International 

Airport. Photo by Matt Duboff.

5. Daniel Iregui, Control No 

Control at Nuit Blanche 

Winnipeg. Photo by  

Nate Forest courtesy of  

Nuit Blanche Winnipeg.
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FELLOWSHIPS
The Indigenous Arts Leaders Fellowship (IALF) launched in 2018 after 
an extensive research and consultation process. It is a training pro-
gram that provides First Nations, Métis, and Inuit arts administration 
professionals with a specialized opportunity to become immersed in 
the community of contemporary arts creation and presentation in 
Winnipeg. The Fellowship focuses on artistic leadership and on devel-
oping the pool of experienced and qualified arts managers in the city.  

The inaugural Fellows are Niamh Dooley and Seraph-Eden 
Boroditsky. Niamh is working with the Manitoba Printmakers 
Association and Seraph-Eden is working with the Royal Manitoba 
Theatre Centre. Throughout their nine-month tenure, Fellows are  
embedded with host organizations, where they receive mentorship  
and experience in a variety of areas of arts management, including 
finance, human resource management, board governance, and other 
aspects of organizational management. 

The program aims to create opportunities for Indigenous 
Winnipeggers to be better represented among the decision makers 
in our city’s arts organizations, and to allow arts organizations to re-
affirm their commitment to Indigenous inclusion. The Winnipeg Arts 
Council is an original signatory to Winnipeg’s Indigenous Accord, and 
this program was developed in the spirit of the Accord and of the Truth 
and Reconciliation Commission’s Calls to Action around education 
and employment, and equitable access for Indigenous people to jobs, 
leadership positions, and opportunities in the arts.

ARTS DEVELOPMENT

2 3

1. Mass Appeal, Strings at 

Millennium Library Foyer. 

Photo by Matt Duboff.

2. Indigenous Arts Leaders 

Fellow Niamh Dooley at 

Martha Street Studio.   

3. Indigenous Arts Leaders 

Fellow Seraph-Eden 

Boroditsky at the Royal 

Manitoba Theatre Centre.
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WINNIPEG’S POET 
LAUREATE PROGRAM

In collaboration with an advisory group that included poets, spoken 
word artists, editors and publishers, in 2017 the Winnipeg Arts Council 
established the position of Poet Laureate for the city.

Charged with writing poems, but also with facilitating connections 
throughout the city—among different literary communities; between 
the literary community and other artists; and between the arts, the city 
and the citizens—multiple award–winning poet, author and literary 
critic Di Brandt was named Winnipeg’s first Poet Laureate. 

Di Brandt is an influential woman of letters across Canada and 
internationally. Her poetry titles include the bestselling questions i 
asked my mother (Gerald Lampert Award, nominated for the Dillons 
Commonwealth Poetry Prize and the Governor General’s Award for 
Poetry); Agnes in the Sky (McNally Robinson Manitoba Book of the Year); 
Now You Care (shortlisted for the Trillium Ontario Book of the Year Award, 
the Griffin Poetry Prize and the Pat Lowther Award); and the multi-lan-
guage collection, Walking to Mojacar, with French and Spanish transla-
tions by Charles Leblanc and Ari Belathar (nominated for the McNally 
Robinson Manitoba Book of the Year). She co-edited the critical an-
thology Wider Boundaries of Daring: The Modernist Impulse in Canadian 
Women’s Poetry with Barbara Godard (Gabrielle Roy Prize, nominated 
for the Canada Prize in the Humanities). Her most recent publication is 
Glitter & fall: Laozi’s Dao De Jing, Trans_inha_lations. 

As Poet Laureate, Di has enhanced awareness of the arts in 
Winnipeg. She read at the Speaking Crow Open Mic Reading Series, and 
emceed a poetry event for guest writer Marilyn Dumont. Last March, she 
conceived of and hosted World Poetry Day, Poetry in Many Languages. 
The event featured 16 Winnipeg citizens reading their favourite poem 
in the language of their heritage. Readers included City Councillor Jenny 
Gerbasi, CBC radio host Ismaila Alfa, musician Daniel Roy and Prairie 
Fire editor Andris Taskans. At the Mayor’s Luncheon for the Arts, she 
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presented the original poem Winnipeg 
Pedestrian Blues, or Thirteen Ways of 
Crossing Portage and Main.

Collaborating with the Winnipeg 
Arts Council on a poetry-themed public 
art project and planning another World 
Poetry Day, Poetry in Many Languages 
event for March 2019, Di continues to 
build bridges that connect the city and 
its citizens to art and literacy. 

We are pleased that Di Brandt has been so busy and we look for-
ward to seeing what she will accomplish during the balance of her 
tenure, which concludes at the end of 2019.

It was a deeply moving experience to hear people reciting heritage poems in 
their heritage languages. It opened a window into the grandeur and sorrow 
and sweetness of the world’s rich poetic and cultural inheritance in many 
languages, and showcased the multicultural life of Winnipeg in its most 
tender and vibrant public aspect.

—Poet Laureate Di Brandt, 2018–2019

WINNIPEG’S POET 
LAUREATE PROGRAM

1

2

3

4

1. Winnipeg Poet Laureate  

Di Brandt. 

2. Ismaila Alfa. 

3. Dr. Nandita Selvanathan.  

4. Jenny Gerbasi, Di Brandt,  

and Carol Phillips. 

World Poetry Event.  

All photos by Lindsey Bond.
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WINNIPEG ARTS  
COUNCIL AWARDS 
& THE MAYOR’S LUNCHEON  
FOR THE ARTS

The annual Mayor’s Luncheon for the Arts was held on June 7, 2018, at 
the Fort Garry Hotel. Winnipeg’s vibrancy, diversity, and pride in our 
arts scene were overflowing. More than 500 celebrants, including 

individual artists, representatives of arts organizations and local busi-
nesses, and city councillors cheered on all the nominees. 

Mayor Brian Bowman, who presented several awards, spoke pas-
sionately about how culture contributes to our economy. Our local 
arts community was on strong display, with a truly impressive group 
of nominees.  

Niki Little/Wabiska Maengun won the On the Rise Award for her 
auspicious work in the visual arts community. Freya Björg Olafson, a 
boundary-pushing performance art pioneer, received the Making a Mark 
Award. Artist Keith Oliver took home the Making a Difference Award for 
his many years of contribution to the growth of numerous arts organi-
zations. Ellen Oberlander and Trish Smerchanski, co-chairs of the School 
of Contemporary Dancers, were honoured as Outstanding Volunteers. 
Michael Nesbitt was the recipient of the Arts Champion Award for his 
generous contributions to the Winnipeg Symphony Orchestra.

The Sher-e-Punjab Bhangra Club Dancers, Suzanne Kennelly and 
Friends, and the Buffalo Gals drum group all further united the enthu-
siastic audience in a joyous celebration of Winnipeg artistry. 

An outstanding showcase for our local talent, the luncheon was 
hosted by the ever-engaging Ify Chiwetelu and Trevor Dineen of CBC 
Radio’s Now or Never. We were treated to an original poem by Winnipeg’s 
first Poet Laureate, Di Brandt, called Winnipeg Pedestrian Blues, or Thirteen 
Ways of Crossing Portage and Main.

1. Mayor Brian Bowman with 

award winners and luncheon 

hosts. 

2. Mayor Brian Bowman 

speaks at the 2018 Mayor’s 

Luncheon for the Arts. 

3. Performance by the Sher-e-

Punjab Bhangra Club Dancers. 

4. Luncheon Guests. 

5. Mayor Brian Bowman and 

Making a Difference Award 

Winner Keith Oliver. 

All photos by Lindsey Bond. 
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Our keynote speaker this year was poet and spoken word artist 
Chimwemwe Undi, who spoke about being inspired by artists whose 
voices have often been silenced and also shared a poem. Undi’s address 
and her poem and that of our Poet Laureate are printed here.

“I know so much of the art that has enriched my life as flow from creatives 
who have taken time out of their daily practice of surviving worlds not built 
for them to build us new worlds and new futures devoid of boxes and filled 
instead with plains as wide open and relentless as the prairies themselves.”

1

4

3

2

5
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It is absolutely my pleasure to be here today. Thank 
you to the folks at Winnipeg Arts Council for the in-
vitation, and to all of you for what I am sure will be 
your rapt attention. As was mentioned in that intro-
duction, my name is Chimwemwe Undi, but you can 
call me Chim, particularly given the terrified faces 
some of you just made.

I’ve been living as a guest on Treaty One territory, 
here in Winnipeg, for about a decade, and have been 
an artist here since I was 16. I love this city, and this 
arts community, particularly because I do not think 
my practice would be possible anywhere else.

When travelling, to perform or to peruse, 
when meeting and breaking bread with artists 
from other countries and cities and territories, I 
have, over and over again, been struck by our city’s 
uniqueness, though I have struggled, at times, to 
articulate them—which is ironic, because articu-
lating is kind of my whole thing.

It is clear to me, though, that being an artist in 
Winnipeg is unlike being an artist anywhere else. 
Naming yourself a type of artist does not place 
you in a box—rather, it places you in a community, 
in a conversation. And how Winnipeg is that? Not 
even our streets adhere to a grid, but meander and 
change, leaving you occasionally lost and often out-
side of your comfort zone.

This has been particularly important to me as 
politics and the news have revealed and reveled in 
an increasingly openly divisive world. It’s too easy to 
watch TV and Twitter timelines and grow baffled at 
the goings-on in other people’s heads. It’s too easy to 
grow too tired and disillusioned to feel like making 
art makes a difference.

Being in community with other artists, having 
access to art that feeds and fills me, sees me and 
challenges the way that I see, is the greatest gift that 
Winnipeg has given and continues to give me. To be 
moved by other people’s art is a reminder that art can 
move, that it is a movement. For that I am grateful.

While it is heartening and inspiring to live in a 
city that thinks outside of and beyond boxes, I must 
reflect briefly on our occasional tendency to con-
centrate on ticking them off. I’ve been lucky to work 
with people, collectives and organizations who have 

stated intentions to work towards diversity: diverse 
writers, diverse employees, and diverse faces smiling 
in the pictures on their website. 

Their success has been varied, to put it lightly. I 
think this is partially because of the transformation 
of diversity into a buzzword—like any word, when 
repeated too many times, it loses meaning. Some 
attempts at inclusion read more like attempts not 
to get into trouble. Understandable, but losing 
sight of the point of diversity, which, in my view, is 
to open up the world to stories, perspectives and 
voices that have too often been erased, ignored 
and silenced.

The art of marginalized people can be but is not 
only a learning tool. Too many of us are forced to ed-
ucate and inform and serve as sources of teachable 
moments and warm fuzzies. I think, I hope, that it is 
possible to balance the pleasure of creation and the 
magic of experience with the truth that there is so 
much to learn from the art made by those who have 
too often been silenced.

Think of the folks at Red Rising who contribute 
to and create a publication that has expanded the 
way all of us understand the Indigenous experience, 
so that we know that it is a plethora of Indigenous 
experiences, currently and historically. How does 
that affect our interpretation of the often-too-rote 
land acknowledgement at the beginning of woke arts 
events? Or our relationship with the land on which 
we gather and the traditional stewards of that land?

Take the Indigenous curators and curators of 
colour who have crafted so many varied and brilliant 
exhibits we have wandered in and out of on various 
First Fridays. How have those clarified the power of 
being able to shape the narrative, even when the 
narrative is subsumed?

Claudia Rankine says there are benefits to be-
ing without nostalgia, and I think chief among those 
benefits is forward momentum.

I know so much of the art that has enriched my 
life as flow from creatives who have taken time out 
of their daily practice of surviving worlds not built for 
them to build us new worlds and new futures devoid 
of boxes and filled instead with plains as wide open 
and as relentless as the prairies themselves.

KEYNOTE ADDRESS

for the Winnipeg Arts Council Awards and the Mayor’s Luncheon for Arts

CHIMWEMWE UNDI  JUNE 7, 2018
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on naming,
after audre lorde.
trace new fingers over glossy pictures 
and rename ourselves: 
cirrus, mitochondria, metamorphosis
the gaps between shoulders
where our faces do not peer out.
audre says our magic is unwritten,
so we press desperate hands 
onto pages, pretend sweat stains 
into story. in the movies with the maids
we are reminded we loved our lower place
(stratus, maybe. fog.) in that Book of hymns,
proud Mary is on her knees, 
Jesus has a lace front, there are 
several dead animals. 
in the February calendar we go over once,
the inventors of crossed roads and CCTV 
and caller ID and the cataract laser-phaco probe 
are all pictured in closed-mouth smiles.

close your eyes and remember us
in the future. audre says we are not
meant to survive and so far, so good.
dead at the hands of forgotten names
never echoing in the broken spaces
they have yelled themselves into.
all the pressed skirts they ruffled.
all the anniversaries we shout down

with question marks
Where were we? (the powerhouse of the cell.) 
picket signs gripped and black bodies 
in the kitchen? the story goes.

I am saying a thing that
has already been said:
we howled ourselves out of the margins
and into illustrations,
reclaimed the cool bleached air.
we invented ourselves, traced back
to translucent stories opaque in the dark,
and even backwards we matter. even
in the remembered victories 
of the also-forgotten, 
us made twice another, 
we were there and still are,
and still screaming,
and this isn’t enough for anybody
but is something, at least.

ON NAMING

CHIMWEMWE UNDI 

Chimwemwe Undi delivers the keynote address. Photo by Lindsey Bond. 
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1
For godsake stay home. Feet up. Bag of chips. Glass of 
red.  Close your eyes .... Feel yourself getting lighter 
and lighter .... Feel yourself floating up, up, up, just 
above the traffic, looking down .... There, there, steer 
yourself just a little to the left, ride the wind .... Yes .... 
Three more lanes of cars to waft across to get to the 
other side. .... Sink slowly, slowly back onto cement. 
Nothing to it. Breathe.  

2
Wait. That wasn’t where you were headed, was it? You 
wanted the other other side, right? Okay. Follow the 
stairs down, down, yeah, down even further, down to 
Winnipeg’s official underworld, the Portage & Main 
Circus. It’s a circus all right! A real honest to goodness 
Merry Go Round. Follow the curved concourse, keep 
going keep going keep going, around and around. 
Eventually you want to find the stairs that lead up 
to the side of the intersection you’re trying to get 
to. Thing is, you can do this all day and never find 
that exact exit. It’s quite likely you may end up back 
where you began. Lotsa nifty snack bars along the 
way, mind you. No sleet or snow. Good bomb shelter 
maybe. Bring along a sleeping bag. A fat novel. Flask 
of brandy.
 
3
Take the car baby. Can’t you see, it’s a corner for 
cars, not for people. Send the car by itself why not. 
Driverless vehicles, it’s all the thing now.
 
4
Hockey anyone? A thousand screaming fans? Bobby 
Hull signing onto the Jets for that famous mil-
lion bucks? People climbing onto streetcars and 
knocking them over? Or riding them triumphantly 
through the town? Peace marches. Pride Parades. The 
General Strike. Victory Celebrations. A Monument to 
the Fallen Soldier. Everything happens right here at 
Portage and Main. Scene of the action, folks.
 

5
Crows sitting on that big bronze statue of the scary 
green man and his scary green dog. Let’s see, one 
two three, yep, a full muster of crows. Squawking up 
a storm and squirting little white stripes on the fancy 
helmet and boots. Grrrouwlll. Howl. Caw caw caw 
caw caw caw caw.
 
6
A slinky silver Jaguar and a sleek red Pontiac
Fell in love in the rain
When they met in congested traffic
On the corner of Portage and Main
O beautiful Jaguar cried the lovely Grand Am
In clear high notes of A and B
I’m glad I’ve had to sit here awhile
You’re such a joy to see
 
In fact I’ve never felt like this before
My engine’s all aflame
O Pontiac the Jaguar purred in throaty augmented F#
I’m feeling just the same
 
And so they nuzzled and kissed and crushed
Their shining fenders together
Their state of the art bumpers intertwined
Their exquisitely calibrated horn duet chased away 
the weather
 
Then all around them played gorgeous clarinets
And violins and cellos and drums
This all happened on September 12, 1997
But man that intersection still hums
 
7
Motorcycles? Helicopters? Drones?
 

WINNIPEG PEDESTRIAN BLUES
OR THIRTEEN WAYS OF CROSSING PORTAGE AND MAIN

Written especially for the Mayor’s Luncheon for the Arts and the Winnipeg Arts Council Awards

DR. DI BRANDT  WINNIPEG POET LAUREATE 2018–2019
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8
I say build the barricades higher, so no walker in the 
city even knows that pesky intersection’s there.  
Disappear it—just like that—into thin air.  Add mirrors 
and let people think they’re walking into themselves 
when they’re actually going around in circles. Maybe 
they can go through the looking glass into alterna-
tive universes and have mystical experiences. Maybe 
they can find the missing Red Queen, or dear old lost 
Winnie the Pooh. Maybe they can find—you!
 
9
In fact close that troublesome intersection to cars too, 
lay down sod, scatter wildflower seeds, bring back 
the bison, that’s really a great piece of original prairie 
real estate awaiting reclamation, here at the heart of 
Canada. Truth and Reconciliation. Make it real.
 
10
Seriously, folks, it’s the major crossroads of Turtle 
Island. Where everything moving east and west 
meets everything moving north and south. The mag-
ic centre of the continent. A geophysical power spot. 
 
11
Oh yeah. Here’s where the tycoons and magnates 
and moguls peer out over the city and rub pinstriped 
shoulders behind the delicately tinted glass windows 
of their golden office towers, and admire the sun set-
ting crimson on the far horizon of Canada’s longest 
street. Here’s where the money gets made, where 
bankers make the grade, where the embroidered 
carpets are laid. Where paintings by our best artists 
hang eloquently on the walls of muted oak pan-
elled halls. Ivan Eyre and Wanda Koop and Eleanor 
Bond. Though the real heroes of this corner may well 
be those crazy window washers risking their necks 
swinging up and down the sides of all that glass and 
steel on their crazy swings. What about the wind?  
Do they ever look down and think that’s cement way 
down there?Ricky and Marcos and Saleem, this is 
for you.  
 

12
Another glass of wine. Another muster of crows.   
Another hockey game. Another symphony. Another 
evening of fireworks. Another electric light display.  
Another witty play. Another gorgeous ballet. Another 
bison hot dog at the sidewalk vendor’s with mustard 
and red peppers and sauerkraut. Another sushi plate.  
Strings of cars. Sidewalks filled with walkers. Beggars.  
Buskers. Publishers. Lovers. Mothers pushing stroll-
ers. Grandmothers with canes. Bits of broken glass 
on the riverbank. Drumming at Thunderbird House.  
Scent of chokecherry blossoms in the air. Music ev-
erywhere. Spring in the beautiful city.
 
13
As for me, I’m with those who’d like the City to open 
up the sidewalks, so we can enjoy walking across 
this famous intersection again. And again. And again.  
Let’s hear it for Portage and Main! Let’s hear it for 
Mayor Bowman whose great idea it was. Let’s hear 
it for the pedestrians! Let’s hear it for bicycles, and 
buses, and cars. Let’s hear it for bison, and dogs and 
crows and geese. Let’s hear it for all the people who 
make Winnipeg such a great place to be! 
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CAROL SHIELDS  
WINNIPEG BOOK AWARD 
PRIX LITTÉRAIRE CAROL-SHIELDS  
DE LA VILLE DE WINNIPEG

The Carol Shields Winnipeg Book Award/ Prix littéraire Carol-Shields 
de la ville de Winnipeg honours books that evoke the special char-
acter of, and contribute to the appreciation and understanding 

of, the City of Winnipeg. It is named after the late Carol Shields, who 
showcased Winnipeg in her own writing. This award of $5,000 to the 
winning author is sponsored by the Winnipeg Arts Council with funding 
from the City of Winnipeg. The award is administered by the Association 
of Manitoba Book Publishers. 

THIS YEAR’S RECIPIENT 

Once More with Feeling 
by Méira Cook
published by House of Anansi Press

Set over the course of a single year, Once More With Feeling follows Max, 
whose singular desire to make his wife happy leads to an unexpect-
ed event that sees him wandering through his western Prairie city. 
Following this path through bisected railway lines and rivers, and con-
nected by boulevards and back alleys, the people he meets tell the story 
of a place which is filled with a community of intersected lives.

JURORS
Marc Coté
Seyward Goodhand
Catherine Macdonald
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CAROL SHIELDS  
WINNIPEG BOOK AWARD 
PRIX LITTÉRAIRE CAROL-SHIELDS  
DE LA VILLE DE WINNIPEG

OTHER SHORTLISTED TITLES 

Green Blankstein Russell and Associates: An Architectural Legacy 
by Jeffrey Thorsteinson and Brennan Smith
published by Winnipeg Architecture Foundation

Winnipeg-based architecture firm Green Blankstein Russell and Associates (GBR) 
opened in the slow years of the Great Depression. From this inauspicious starting point, 
the firm would grow to become, by the 1950s and ’60s, a major player on the Canadian 
architectural scene. Covering a wide range of individual buildings and practitioners, this 
book explores the significant mark GBR made on its hometown and across the country, 
as well as the firm’s role as a leader in the growth of modernist architecture in Canada.

Lake Agassiz: The Rise and Demise of the World’s Greatest Lake 
by Bill Redekop
published by Heartland Associates Inc. 

Formed over 10,000 years, and covering much of Manitoba, including Winnipeg, the 
legacy of Lake Agassiz stretches from the seemingly endless prairie that was once 
lake bottom to the meandering rivers that sometimes threaten springtime havoc. 
Lake Agassiz: The Rise and Demise of the World’s Greatest Lake tells the story of what is 
considered to be one of the largest lakes ever known, from its discovery in the late 
19th century to its impact on our lives today.

The North End Revisited: Photographs by John Paskievich
published by University of Manitoba Press

Winnipeg’s North End is one of North America’s iconic neighbourhoods, and for 40 
years John Paskievich has photographed its people and captured its spirit. The North 
End Revisited brings together many of the photographs from Paskievich’s now-classic 
book The North End (2007), with 80 additional images to present a deep and poignant 
picture of a special community.

Visual Celebrations II / Célébrations Visuelles II 
by Patricia Bovey and Leona Herzog
published by Hôpital St-Boniface Hospital

This volume marks the 10th anniversary of the Buhler Gallery in St. Boniface Hospital, 
celebrating the many artists who have shared their work with patients, staff and visi-
tors over the preceding five years. Pat Bovey’s insightful catalogues, along with many 
works by noted artists, are beautifully reproduced, while Leona Herzog’s essay draws 
attention to the pivotal role the Gallery plays in providing a healing space for solace, 
respite and contemplation in a healthcare environment. (Source: McNally Robinson 
Booksellers)

Write-ups about the books have been edited from supplied promotional information. 
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The Winnipeg Arts Council is grateful to Mayor Brian Bowman and 
to each member of City Council for their commitment and invest-
ment in the arts in Winnipeg. The Standing Committee on Protection, 

Community Services and Parks receives our submissions with great inter-
est and support. Thank you to the City Clerk’s Office, the offices of the CAO 
and the COO, and all the city officials who assist Winnipeg Arts Council 
programs and initiatives. We appreciate the Winnipeg Arts Council’s en-
thusiastic and committed Board of Directors.

PUBLIC ART
The Public Art Program works closely with City of Winnipeg staff on proce-
dures to implement the Policy and Program. We appreciate the assistance 
of the Planning Executive Advisory Committee and all our colleagues who 
are critical in the development, installation and on-going care of the City’s 
Public Art Collection. We are especially grateful to the Planning, Property 
and Development Department, our primary liaison. Special thanks to Alan 
Benedictson for his technical expertise and coordinating the installation 
of new lights on emptyful. Thanks to Karl Thordarson, and Parks and Open 
Spaces with support from Councillor Jeff Browaty, for bringing all of the 
partners together to make the installation of artwork by neighbourhood 
youth possible along Bunn’s Creek. Thanks also to Councillor Devi Sharma 
for her early and enthusiastic support for Bokeh in Kildonan Park.

We thank all our external partners and community members who 
are essential in the creation of meaningful public artworks. Thanks to the 
Exchange District BIZ for their assistance with the installation of Impulse in 
Old Market Square. THIS PLACE on Treaty 1 Territory and the homeland of the 
Métis Nation was made possible with the participation of the Government 
of Canada. The free launch and concert were also supported in part by a 
Host It Downtown grant from the Downtown Winnipeg BIZ.

Thanks to Tim Hortons at 19 Marion Street for providing hot chocolate 
for our public art bus tour on two wintry nights and to all the organizations 
who donated prizes for the tour participants: Clementine Cafe, Manitoba 
Theatre for Young People, Prairie Theatre Exchange, and the Winnipeg 
Comedy Festival. We were fortunate to have sponsorship from Thompson 
Dorfman Sweatman LLP, who provided resources that allowed us to offer 
a second winter bus tour this year. 

And most of all, thanks to the artists who make our work possible and 
our city infinitely more dynamic.

THANKS 
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MASS APPEAL
Mass Appeal was led by a talented group of music directors including Kate 
Ferris, Leanne Zacharias, Ben Campbell Scott Senior, and Stephen Kiz. Dustin 
Jackson, Gordie Kinsman and Jimi Kinsman at Audio Works Production 
Services provided technical support, and our partners who helped make 
the events possible include Jennifer Bean at Winnipeg Public Works, 
Danielle Pilon at the Winnipeg Public Library, and Erika Anderson at the 
Winnipeg Airports Authority.

POET LAUREATE
We would like to thank the staff at CV2, Prairie Fire, Turnstone Press and 
the Winnipeg International Writers Festival for supporting our inaugural 
Poet Laureate program. We are also grateful to all the important folks who 
helped us put together such a wonderful event at the Gas Station Arts 
Centre. Thank you to Nick Kowalchuk and Todd Drader, who always go 
above and beyond; Melinda Tallin and the University of Winnipeg Theatre 
and Film department; Kelly Hughes; Ray Fenwick and of course all of the 
wonderful performers who graced us with poetry, especially our enthu-
siastic Poet Laureate, Di Brandt.

INDIGENOUS ARTS LEADERS FELLOWSHIP
Numerous people and organizations in Winnipeg and across Canada 
were involved in the creation of the Indigenous Arts Leaders Fellowship. 
Special thanks and credit are due to Alan Greyeyes at the sākihiwē 
Festival; Ruth Shead, Coordinator of Indigenous Achievement at the 
University of Manitoba; and Melanie Dean at the Indigenous Leadership 
Development Institute. Gerri Trimble at the Canada Council for the Arts 
in Ottawa and Cathi Charles Wherry of the First Peoples’ Cultural Council 
in Victoria were of invaluable assistance. We are also grateful to Kristin 
Nelson at the Manitoba Printmakers Association and Camilla Holland 
at the Royal Manitoba Theatre Centre for their support of this program.

THANKS 
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F O R  A R T S  O R G A N I Z AT I O N S 
A N D  C O L L E CT I V E S

TOTAL APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

35
TOTAL FUNDS REQUESTED 

$298,250
TOTAL GRANTS AWARDED 

19
TOTAL GRANT FUNDS AWARDED 

$153,750

PROJECT GRANT 
PROGRAM

This program is intended for new and 
developing arts organizations, estab-
lished arts organizations that work on a 
project basis, and arts organizations un-
dertaking a special, one-time initiative. 
Collectives or unincorporated groups 
may be eligible provided that they 
meet the special criteria outlined in the 
guidelines. The program is designed to 
provide partial support to a broad range 
of activities and art forms, reflecting dif-
ferent cultural traditions and art prac-
tices. A Project Grant must be applied 
to a specific project—with potential for 
artistic merit and community impact—
planned to take place within the 18 
months following the notification date. 
This program is not open to recipients of 
the Winnipeg Arts Council’s multi-year 
grants programs. The maximum grant 
available under this program is $10,000.

AA BATTERY COLLECTIVE 

$10,000
To support The Threepenny Opera, pro-
duced by AA Battery in association with 
Sick + Twisted Theatre, presented at the 
West End Cultural Centre.

ABORIGINAL MUSIC MANITOBA  

$10,000
To support re-launching the Aboriginal 
Music Week festival under a new name 
with new dates and a condensed format 
to increase its reach, impact and perfor-
mance fees.

ARTSJUNKTION 

$10,000
To support further developing ArtHives: 
our free, community art-making pro-
gram. We will provide art workshops 
and supplies and hire local, diverse 
artists.

CLUSTER: NEW MUSIC + 
INTEGRATED ARTS FESTIVAL 

$10,000
To support a series of five distinct 
multi–art form events + outreach activ-
ities aimed at enriching and energizing 
Winnipeg’s artistic scene

FIRST FRIDAYS IN THE EXCHANGE 

$10,000
To support Art Talk/Art Walk: a series of 
informal moderated lectures or inter-
views by local artists and arts profes-
sionals, followed by a tour of Exchange 
galleries and studios. 

SICK + TWISTED THEATRE COLLECTIVE 

$10,000
To support Lame Is... 2.0, a cabaret of per-
formers with disabilities.

VAULT PROJECTS 

$10,000
To support production of a new play, 
Women of the Fur Trade, at the Toronto 
and Winnipeg Fringe Festivals, with 
workshops and development to cul-
minate in a full-length production in 
Winnipeg in 2019.

YOUNG LUNGS DANCE EXCHANGE 

$10,000
To support a quarter of research projects 
as part of our ongoing Research Series.

CANZONA  

$9,000
To support three collaborative concerts 
featuring professional Winnipeg sing-
ers and instrumentalists celebrating 
Canzona’s 30th anniversary season.

COMPANY LINK 

$9,000
To support an interdisciplinary rendi-
tion of playwright Caryl Churchill’s Love 
and Information in collaboration with 
Theatre Incarnate.

POLYCORO CHAMBER CHOIR 

$9,000
To support Polycoro’s 5th concert sea-
son, entitled State of the World 2018–19.

WINNIPEG CLASSICAL GUITAR SOCIETY 

$9,000
To support the 2018–2019 concert 
season.

GALLERY 1C03 

$8,500
To support Not the Camera, But the Filing 
Cabinet: Performative Body Archives in 
Contemporary Art, an exhibition and 
public programming that explore 
diverse representations of the fe-
male-identified body.
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WINNIPEG ARCHITECTURE FOUNDATION 

$7,000
To support development of a bilin-
gual narrated podcast, with an original 
soundtrack, for the Winnipeg Transit 
Route 10 architectural bus tour.

CENTRE CULTUREL FRANCO-MANITOBAIN 

$6,000
Au soutien de L’histoire de la musique—
Initier les enfants à la musique de 
chambre pour cuivres tout en decou-
vrant la musique et son histoire, dupuis 
la préhistoire jusqu’à nos jours avec le 
quintette de cuivres Buzz.

VIRTUAL PRODUCTIONS 

$6,000
To support Virtual Animation: Two im-
provisers using the latest Winnipeg-
made Virtual Reality software, creating 
live animation projected onto a screen 
for an audience.

MANITOBA CRAFTS MUSEUM AND LIBRARY 

$5,000
To support the Crafts Guild of Manitoba’s 
90th anniversary celebration through 
two exhibits and related programming.

PRAIRIE COMICS FESTIVAL 

$3,000
To support the 2018 Prairie Comics 
Festival.

SLAM! 

$2,250
To support “SLAM!,” a Winnipeg Fringe 
Theatre Festival production.

1

4 6

5

2

3

1. Moving Target Theatre Company, Deserter by Daniel Thau-Eleff, 2017. Photo by Mike Sudoma.  

2. Sick + Twisted Theatre, Lame Is: A Disability Cabaret, 2018. Photo by Leif Norman.  3. Aboriginal 

Music Manitoba, Māmā Mihirangi & the Māreikura, 2018. Photo by Danielle Morrison.  4. Gallery 

1C03, que dira la santa madre, performance by Luna, 2018. Photo by Elliana Allon.  5. Company 

Link, Love and Information by Caryl Churchill, 2018. Photo by Leif Norman.  6. Young Lungs Dance 

Exchange. Photo by Johanna Riley.   
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F O R  A R T I S T S  A N D  A R T S 
A D M I N I S T R ATO R S

TOTAL APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

80
TOTAL FUNDS REQUESTED 

$60,872
TOTAL GRANTS AWARDED 

55
TOTAL GRANT FUNDS AWARDED 

$33,750

PROFESSIONAL  
DEVELOPMENT  
GRANT PROGRAM

SUSAN  
ALGIE 

$750 
SASHA  
AMAYA 

$1,000 
ALIZA  
AMIHUDE 

$500 
CECILIA  
ARANEDA 

$750 
SHARON  
BAJER 

$750 
ANDREW  
BALFOUR 

$750 
EMMA  
BEECH 

$500 
STEPHANIE 
BERRINGTON

$750 
JACOB 
BRODOVSKY-
YAGER 

$500 
CHRISTOPHER 
BURKE 

$500
DOROTHY 
CARROLL 

$500 

CHLOE  
CHAFE 

$500 
ANGELA 
CHALMERS

$500 
KRISTIANE 
CHURCH 

$500
DECO  
DAWSON 

$500 
ALEXANDRA 
ELLIOTT 

$750 
CALLEN  
FROESE 

$1,000 
HANNAH  
GODFREY 

$500 
JILLIAN  
GROENING 

$500 
GRANT  
GUY 

$500 
MARGARET  
JAYNE  
HAMMOND

$500 
JESSEE  
HAVEY 

$500 

KATHLEEN  
HILEY 

$1,000 
RICHARD  
HOLDEN 

$750 
MING  
HON 
$750 
JAYMEZ  
JANSEN 

$750 
LINDSAY  
JOHNSON 

$500 
KEVIN  
KLASSEN 

$500 
GREG  
KLYMKIW 

$500
DAVID  
KNIPE 

$500 
FRANCES  
KONCAN 

$500 
SACHA  
KOPELOW 

$500 
DIANE 
LAFOURNAISE

$500 

KERI  
LATIMER 

$500
GENEVIÈVE 
LATOUCHE

$500 
KENNETH 
LAVALLEE

$1,000
STEPHEN  
LOCKE 

$250 
PATRICK  
MUGOSA 

$750 
JAZMIN 
PAPADOPOULOS

$750 
GISLINA 
PATTERSON

$500 
MATTHEW  
PETERS 

$500 
DEBRA  
PLETT 

$750
JEANNE 
RANDOLPH

$750 
JOSHUA  
RUTH 

$500 

MATTHEW 
SCHELLENBERG

$500 
GURPREET  
SEHRA 

$500 
NICOLE  
SHIMONEK

$500 
CYRUS  
SMITH 

$500 
SUZIE  
SMITH 

$750 
MARIBETH 
TABANERA

$750 
ROBERT  
TAITE 

$750 
BRITTANY 
THIESSEN 

$500 
ROBYN  
THOMSON 
KACKI 

$500 
SHELLEY 
VANDERBYL

$1,000 
CORY  
WOJCIK

$500

The Winnipeg Arts Council recognizes 
that the continued growth and devel-
opment of arts professionals is essen-
tial to the cultural health of the com-
munity. The Professional Development 
Grant Program is designed to provide 
support to artists and arts adminis-
trators for activities that contribute 
to their professional development 
and enhance their careers in the arts. 
These activities may include: unique 
opportunities for short-term study 
(beyond basic training) in a formal or 
informal setting; attendance at events 
where the work of the applicant is to 
be presented or where the applicant is 
an invited speaker or resource person; 
or travel that is a component of such 
activities. Professional Development 
grants are distributed in fixed amounts 
of $250, $500, $750, or $1,000 and are 
intended to represent a contribution 
not exceeding 50 per cent of the to-
tal eligible costs. Grants of $1,000 will 
usually be awarded only for projects 
taking place outside of North America.
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F O R  W I N N I P E G  A R T I S T S 
WO R K I N G  I N  A L L  
A R T I S T I C  D I S C I P L I N E S

TOTAL APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

140
TOTAL FUNDS REQUESTED 

$733,746
TOTAL GRANTS AWARDED 

41
TOTAL GRANT FUNDS AWARDED 

$225,460

INDIVIDUAL 
ARTIST GRANT 
PROGRAM 

BRADY  
ALLARD

$3,000
KELSEY  
BRAUN

$3,000
KEVIN LEE  
BURTON

$3,600
MARGARET  
CAREY

$6,000
CONNIE  
CHAPPEL

$3,000
MÉIRA  
COOK

$7,000
SARAH  
CRAWLEY

$7,000
ALAIN  
DELANNOY

$7,000
HANNAH  
DOUCET

$3,000
SONIA  
EIDSE

$3,000
JOANNE  
EPP

$6,900

CHRISTINE  
FELLOWS

$7,000
RAY  
FENWICK

$7,000
SHAUN  
FINNIGAN

$3,000
JEN  
FUNK

$7,000
GRANT  
GUY

$7,000
JAMIE  
HAY

$2,660
KATHLEEN  
HILEY

$7,000
MING  
HON

$7,000
SARAH JO  
KIRSCH

$6,500
SOLMUND 
MACPHERSON

$3,000
SYLVIA  
MATAS

$7,000

EMMA  
MAYER

$3,000
LORRI  
MILLAN

$7,000
MILOS  
MITROVIC

$3,000
KRISTIN  
NELSON

$7,000
CASIMIRO  
NHUSSI

$7,000
HEIDI  
PHILLIPS

$7,000
BEV  
PIKE

$7,000
SHAYLYN  
PLETT

$3,000
DAVID  
ALEXANDER 
ROBERTSON

$7,000
JOHN K.  
SAMSON

$7,000
BECKY  
SAWDON

$7,000

DAVID  
RAPHAEL  
SCOTT

$5,000
SUZIE SMITH

$7,000
KRISTIN  
SNOWBIRD

$3,000
DIANA 
THORNEYCROFT

$5,000
HAZEL  
VENZON 

$7,000
RHAYNE  
VERMETTE

$7,000
KRISTEN  
WACHNIAK

$2,800
XIAONAN  
WANG

$7,000

The Winnipeg Arts Council recogniz-
es the individual artist as the primary 
source of creative activity in all artistic 
disciplines. The Individual Artist Grant 
Program is intended to support the cre-
ation of new work in any art form, or the 
development, production, curation, or 
exhibition of works of art by Winnipeg 
artists. 

Two types of grants are available, de-
pending on an artist’s level of accom-
plishment and experience in the disci-
pline of the proposed project. In 2018 
these amounts were increased from 
$5,000 to $7,000 for the “A grant” for 
mid-career and established artists, and 
from $2,000 to $3,000 for the “B grant” 
for emerging artists.
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F O R  A R T S  O R G A N I Z AT I O N S

TOTAL APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

63
TOTAL FUNDS REQUESTED 

$3,864,837
TOTAL GRANTS AWARDED 

62
TOTAL GRANT FUNDS AWARDED 

$3,516,450

MULTI-YEAR 
GRANT PROGRAMS
Three-year Operating Grants and two-
year Program Support Grants make 
contributions to the operations of es-
tablished arts organizations that have 
a continuing presence in Winnipeg 
throughout the year or seasonally, and 
have a track record of high-quality pro-
gramming or services. Multi-year grants 
support a range of activities and art 
forms, reflecting different cultural tradi-
tions and art practices. Organizations re-
ceiving support are expected to advance 
the development of their art forms, to 
participate in the development of local 
artists, to maintain public support, and 
to practice strict management and fi-
nancial controls. 

Organizations are invited to apply to 
either the two-year or three-year pro-
gram, depending on a variety of factors 
including budget size, scope of program-
ming, and number of staff. All organiza-
tions receiving multi-year grants must 
have a history of consistent program-
ming/presentation and public support, 
and must provide regular reporting to 
ensure that they continue to meet the 
objectives of the program. 

2018 was the first year of a new three-
year Operating Grant cycle. Twenty or-
ganizations received increases to their 
Operating Grant and one new organi-
zation was awarded new multi-year 
funding. Of the organizations that re-
ceived them, increases were generally in 
the area of 10 per cent of the previously 
funded amount. One organization with-
drew from the two-year program.

OPERATING 
GRANTS 
(THREE-YEAR)

ACEARTINC.

$39,200
ARTS MANITOBA 
PUBLICATIONS

$20,000
LE CERCLE MOLIÈRE

$70,000
FESTIVAL  
DU VOYAGEUR

$100,000
FOLK ARTS COUNCIL  
OF WINNIPEG

$108,000
FREEZE FRAME:  
STORYLINE FX

$28,600
GAS STATION  
ARTS CENTRE

$20,000
JAZZ WINNIPEG

$44,000
MANITO AHBEE  
FESTIVAL

$50,000
MANITOBA CHAMBER 
ORCHESTRA

$55,000
MANITOBA  
CONSERVATORY  
OF MUSIC & ARTS

$40,000

MANITOBA OPERA 
ASSOCIATION 

$135,000
MANITOBA  
PRINTMAKERS  
ASSOCIATION

$33,000
MANITOBA THEATRE  
FOR YOUNG PEOPLE

$118,260
MENTORING ARTISTS  
FOR WOMEN’S ART

$41,750
NATIONAL SCREEN 
INSTITUTE – CANADA

$26,250
PLATFORM: CENTRE  
FOR PHOTOGRAPHIC + 
DIGITAL ARTS

$27,500
PLUG IN INSTITUTE OF 
CONTEMPORARY ART

$106,600
PRAIRIE FIRE  
PRESS

$40,425
PRAIRIE THEATRE 
EXCHANGE

$145,000
RAINBOW STAGE 

$54,450
ROYAL MANITOBA  
THEATRE CENTRE

$340,000
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MULTI-YEAR GRANT PROGRAMS

ROYAL  
WINNIPEG  
BALLET

$331,500
SARASVÀTI DRAMATIC 
THEATRE PRODUCTIONS  
AND REPERTORY

$15,000
SCHOOL OF  
CONTEMPORARY  
DANCERS

$34,000
SHAKESPEARE  
IN THE RUINS

$31,300
THEATRE PROJECTS 
MANITOBA

$45,800
URBAN SHAMAN: 
CONTEMPORARY 
ABORIGINAL ART

$47,000
VIDEO POOL MEDIA  
ARTS CENTRE

$35,750
WEST END  
CULTURAL CENTRE

$35,000
WINNIPEG ART  
GALLERY

$397,800
WINNIPEG  
CENTENNIAL  
FOLK FESTIVAL

$103,000

WINNIPEG  
FILM GROUP

$54,750
WINNIPEG  
INTERNATIONAL  
CHILDREN’S FESTIVAL

$62,150
WINNIPEG  
INTERNATIONAL  
WRITERS FESTIVAL

$27,500
WINNIPEG JAZZ  
ORCHESTRA

$21,400
WINNIPEG JEWISH  
THEATRE

$33,000
WINNIPEG  
SYMPHONY  
ORCHESTRA

$305,800
WINNIPEG’S  
CONTEMPORARY  
DANCERS

$30,000

PROGRAMMING 
SUPPORT  
GRANTS 
(TWO-YEAR)

AGASSIZ MUSIC

$9,500
ASSOCIATION OF  
MANITOBA BOOK 
PUBLISHERS

$10,925
CAMERATA NOVA

$15,000
CONTEMPORARY VERSE 2

$7,200
DRY COLD PRODUCTIONS

$12,000
GEARSHIFTING 
PERFORMANCE WORKS

$12,000
GILBERT & SULLIVAN 
SOCIETY OF WINNIPEG

$6,325
GROUNDSWELL

$15,000
LA MAISON DES ARTISTES 
VISUELS FRANCOPHONES

$13,000
LITTLE OPERA COMPANY

$7,590
MANITOBA ASSOCIATION  
OF PLAYWRIGHTS

$22,200
MANITOBA CHORAL 
ASSOCIATION

$14,950

MANITOBA CRAFT  
COUNCIL

$10,000
NAFRO DANCE 
PRODUCTIONS

$15,000
ROSAMUNDE SUMMER 
MUSIC ACADEMY

$11,000
SEND + RECEIVE:  
A FESTIVAL OF SOUND

$12,000
VIRTUOSI CONCERTS

$10,000
WINNIPEG GAY AND 
LESBIAN FILM SOCIETY 
(REEL PRIDE)

$7,000
WINNIPEG MUSIC  
FESTIVAL

$12,075
WINNIPEG  
PHILHARMONIC CHOIR

$8,050
WINNIPEG SINGERS

$15,000
WINNIPEG YOUTH 
ORCHESTRAS

$5,750
WNDX

$11,100
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To the Directors of
Winnipeg Arts Council Inc.

OPINION
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Winnipeg Arts Council Inc., which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and the statements of 
operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Winnipeg Arts Council Inc. as at December 31, 2018 and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards 
for not-for-profit organizations.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing stan-
dards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are inde-
pendent of the Organization in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Organization’s annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

The annual report is expected to be made available to use after the date of the auditor’s 
report. If, based on the work we will perform on this other information, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact 
to those charged with governance. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial state-
ments in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the en-
tity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the entity’s financial 
reporting process.

BOOKE & PARTNERSINDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
500 - FIVE DONALD STREET

WINNIPEG, MANITOBA R3L 2T4
TEL: (204) 284-7060
FAX: (204) 284-7105

www.bookeandpartners.ca
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of ac-
counting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of ac-
counting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Organization’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Organization to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, in-
cluding the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Winnipeg, Canada
March 7, 2019        C H A R T E R E D  P R O F E S S I O N A L A C C O U N TA N T S

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31   2018   2017

REVENUES
City of Winnipeg  $  4,645,319  $  4,645,319
Arts Development   39,735   23,699
Other income   8,577   1,876
Interest income   36,836   19,210

  4,730,467   4,690,104

EXPENSES
Program expenses   4,196,464   4,087,679
Administrative expenses    491,692   498,555

  4,688,156   4,586,234

OTHER PROJECTS
Public Art revenues (Note 5)   1,223,031   924,142
Public Art expenses   (1,223,031)   (924,142)

  -   -

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES BEFORE AMORTIZATION   42,311   103,870
AMORTIZATION   (2,056)   (7,944)

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES AFTER AMORTIZATION  $  40,255  $  95,926

    INVESTED
    IN CAPITAL   INTERNALLY
  UNRESTRICTED   ASSETS   RESTRICTED   TOTAL   TOTAL
NET ASSETS, BEGINNING 
   OF YEAR  $  224,189  $  2,622  $  227,294  $  454,105  $  368,179
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER
   EXPENSES   42,311   (2,056)   -   40,255   95,926
TRANSFERS (NOTE 6)   (120,000)   -   95,000   (25,000)   (10,000)

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR  $  146,500  $  566  $  322,294  $  469,360  $  454,105

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31   2018   2017

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash  $  2,341,183  $  1,755,210
Receivables   62,212   74,892
GST receivable   11,251   10,853
Prepaid expenses   2,383   2,391

  2,417,029   1,843,346
EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS (NOTE 3)   566   2,622

 $  2,417,595  $  1,845,968

LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Payables and accruals  $  16,000  $  15,500
Grant holdbacks (Note 4)   284,649   265,061
Deferred contributions (Note 5)   1,647,586   1,111,302

  1,948,235   1,391,863

NET ASSETS
UNRESTRICTED (NOTE 7)   146,500   224,189
INVESTED IN CAPITAL ASSETS   566   2,622
INTERNALLY RESTRICTED (NOTE 7)   322,294   227,294
  469,360   454,105

 $  2,417,595  $  1,845,968

COMMITMENT (NOTE 8)
Approved by the Board

DIRECTOR                                                         D I R ECTOR

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31   2018   2017

CASH DERIVED FROM (APPLIED TO):

OPERATING
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES  $  40,255  $  95,926
AMORTIZATION   2,056   7,944

  42,311   103,870

CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL
Receivables   12,680   (64,892)
Interest receivable   -   4,488
GST receivable   (398)   (1,088)
Prepaid expenses   8   (53)
Payables and accruals   500   -
Grant holdbacks   19,588   105,033
Deferred contributions   536,284   (21,804)

  610,973   125,554

INVESTING
REDEMPTION OF TERM DEPOSITS   -   900,000
TRANSFER TO ENDOWMENT FUND   (25,000)   (10,000)
  (25,000)   890,000

NET INCREASE IN CASH   585,973   1,015,554

CASH BALANCE
BEGINNING OF YEAR   1,755,210   739,656

END OF YEAR  $  2,341,183  $ 1,755,210 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Winnipeg Arts Council Inc. (the Organization) funds, supports, and champions development 
of the arts on behalf of the people of Winnipeg.

The Organization is an incorporated not-for-profit entity and is a registered charity under 
the Income Tax Act.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for 
not-for-profit organizations. The significant accounting policies used are detailed as follows:

(A) EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS
Equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. The Organization provides 
for amortization using the following methods at rates designed to amortize the cost of the 
equipment and leasehold improvements over their estimated useful lives:

OFFICE EQUIPMENT   5 years  Straight-line
FURNITURE AND FIXTURES  10 years Straight-line
COMPUTER EQUIPMENT   3 years  Straight-line

Amortization of leasehold improvements is recorded over the term of the lease.

(B) REVENUE RECOGNITION
The Organization follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. 

Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related 
expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received 
or receivable, if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is 
reasonably assured.

(C) ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards 
for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenses during the reported period. These estimates are reviewed periodically and are 
reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.

(D) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Organization recognizes its financial instruments when the Organization becomes party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial instruments are initially 
recorded at fair value with subsequent reporting at amortized cost.

It is management’s opinion that the Organization is not exposed to significant credit, 
currency, interest rate, liquidity, market, or price risks arising from its financial instruments.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2018
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3. EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS
      2018   2017
    Accumulated   Net   Net
  Cost   Amortization  Book Value   Book Value

Office equipment  $  6,574  $  6,574  $  -  $  -
Furniture and fixtures   34,243   34,243   -   1,944
Leasehold improvements   104,258   104,258   -   -
Computer equipment   5,091   4,525   566   678

 $  150,166  $  149,600  $  566 $  2,622

4. GRANT HOLDBACKS
The Organization follows the policy of holding back a proportion of grants awarded in a 
year until certain completion criteria have been satisfied. Furthermore, some awards will be 
disbursed according to a cash flow schedule developed with the agreement of the recipient 
organizations. Accordingly, this account represents the award balances which will be disbursed 
in the future according to the specified guidelines.

At December 31, the composition of the holdbacks according to award category are as 
follows:
  2018   2017

Youth WITH ART  $  94,608  $  89,972
Arts Development   35,893   52,258
Individual Artist grants   48,400   43,000
Multi-year grants   24,798   37,150
Indigenous Arts Leaders Fellowship   60,000   26,431
Project grants   20,950   16,250

 $  284,649  $  265,061

5. DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS
Deferred contributions represent restricted funding and unspent externally restricted resourc-
es which relate to the subsequent year.

Public Art relates to the design and execution of particular artworks to be created in 
public areas of Winnipeg. The commissioning and installation of public art projects is a multi-
year process. This program is supported by a specified allocation from the City of Winnipeg 
with the occasional addition of grant funds and partnerships. Financial support to individual 
artists is awarded on the recommendations of selection panels facilitated by the Organization.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  DECEMBER 31, 2018
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DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS (CONT’D)  2018   2017

PUBLIC ART
CONTRIBUTIONS
City of Winnipeg Public Art Strategy  $  455,400  $  453,300
City of Winnipeg Public Works Waverley Underpass Agreement   450,000   -
City of Winnipeg Public Art Maintenance Reimbursement   62,212   -
Government of Canada   362,160   321,000
Downtown Winnipeg BIZ   30,939   -
Centre Venture   100,000   -
Winnipeg Foundation   45,000   -
Manitoba Federation of Labour   75,000   -
Amalgamated Transit Union   30,000   -
Plenary Road Winnipeg   124,775   106,275
Old St. Vital BIZ   -   16,000
WSP   20,000   -
Other   3,829   5,763
TRANSFERRED TO REVENUE   (1,223,031)   (924,142)

INCREASE (DECREASE) DURING THE YEAR   536,284   (21,804)
DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS, BEGINNING OF YEAR   1,111,302   1,133,106

DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS, END OF YEAR  $  1,647,586  $  1,111,302

The following provides a breakdown by project of the unexpended balance:

  2018   2017
PUBLIC ART PROJECTS
1919 Streetcar  $  460,380  $  237,476
Waverley Underpass   442,730   -
Broadway Light-based Sculptures   267,633   53,360
WITH ART: Community Arts Projects   167,284   153,491
Air Canada Park/Indigenous Artists Project   114,209   339,525
South Sherbrook/Cornish Library   89,970   131,263
Public Art Contingency   38,937   73,410
Tache Promenade   35,741   -
Kildonan Park   16,124   105,587
Public Education and Outreach   11,089   -
Southwest Rapid Transit   3,489   -
Old St. Vital BIZ/Intersection of St. Anne’s & St. Mary’s   -   9,144
Windsor Park Library   -   8,046

 $  1,647,586  $  1,111,302

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  DECEMBER 31, 2018



W I N N I P E G  A R T S  C O U N C I L52

6. TRANSFERS
During the year, the Board of Directors approved a transfer of $25,000 (2017 - $10,000) from 
unrestricted net assets as a contribution to the Endowment Fund held at the Winnipeg 
Foundation.

During the year, $50,000 (2017 - $Nil) was transferred from unrestricted net assets to 
internally restricted net assets in order to fund a study of the socioeconomic impact of the arts. 

During the year, $45,000 (2017 - $Nil) was transferred from unrestricted net assets to 
internally restricted net assets in order to fund the movement of the Organization’s grant 
application process online.

7. NET ASSETS
INTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS  2018   2017

Cash flow assistance  $  100,000  $  100,000
Internally restricted net assets   222,294   127,294

 $  322,294  $  227,294

The allocation for cash flow assistance was made in order to provide cash flow assistance to 
client organizations until such time as operating grants for their use have been received by 
Winnipeg Arts Council Inc. from the City of Winnipeg.

The allocation for internally restricted net assets is available for the development of new 
programs at the discretion of the Board of Directors and to finance future projects to engage 
the overall community in support of the arts in the City of Winnipeg.

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
The Organization considers its capital to be the balance maintained in its unrestricted net 
assets. Capital is utilized under the direction of the Board of Directors. The primary objective 
of the Organization is to invest its capital in a manner that will allow it to continue as a going 
concern.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  DECEMBER 31, 2018
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8. COMMITMENT
The Organization entered into a new lease agreement for office space, which expires on June 
30, 2022. The Organization’s annual minimum lease payments over the next four years are as 
follows:
  2019  $  30,131
  2020   31,035
  2021   31,966
  2022   16,219

9. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE
The volume of financial activity undertaken by the Organization with its main funding body 
is of sufficient magnitude that the discontinuance of their funding would endanger the ability 
of the Organization to continue as a going concern.

10. ENDOWMENT FUND
In 2011, the Organization established an Endowment Fund through a $20,000 contribution 
to be held in perpetuity at The Winnipeg Foundation. Interest revenue earned by this fund 
is available to the Organization annually to support general operations. As of December 31, 
2018, the Organization’s cumulative contributions to the Endowment Fund totaled $110,000 
(2017 - $85,000) with a cumulative matching grant contribution of $33,352 (2017 - $30,001) 
from The Winnipeg Foundation. The market value of the Endowment Fund at December 31, 
2018 is $177,548 (2017 - $157,365).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  DECEMBER 31, 2018
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31   2018   2017

PROGRAM EXPENSES
Multi-year grants  $  3,506,451  $  3,415,640
Individual artist grants   225,460   218,300
Project grants   153,750   168,000
Arts Development   125,000   160,000
Indigenous Arts Leaders Fellowship   60,000   -
Youth WITH ART   50,000   60,000
Professional development grants   33,750   37,300
Jury honoraria and expenses   19,971   12,252
Poet Laureate   10,169   7,296
Carol Shields Winnipeg Book Award   6,750   6,750
Translation services   5,163   2,141

 $  4,196,464  $  4,087,679

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Board and committee meetings  $  6,445  $  7,040
Hospitality and promotion   6,114   5,074
Professional and consultant fees   21,625   12,064
Professional development, membership and conferences   8,117   5,495
Rent and utilities   55,879   53,685
Salaries and benefits   359,498   372,838
Supplies and other office expenses   29,980   36,487
Telecommunications   4,034   5,872

 $  491,692  $  498,555

PUBLIC ART EXPENSES
Program administration  $  75,000  $  75,000
Selection process   21,979   13,646
Artwork development   20,832   60,866
Artwork commission/production   873,022   606,859
Professional services   113,642   107,628
Maintenance   62,212   -
Public education   56,344   56,333
Research, planning and marketing   -   3,810

 $  1,223,031  $  924,142

SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES
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MANDATE, MISSION, VISION, VALUES 
AND STRATEGIC THEMES

MANDATE
The Winnipeg Arts Council Inc. is an independent not-for-profit corporation, created 
and mandated by the City of Winnipeg to carry out the objects stipulated in its Articles 
of Incorporation by undertaking the following responsibilities:

• managing and carrying out the City’s arts and cultural funding programs; exercising 
final arm’s-length authority to approve and issue cultural grants

• presenting for approval to the Standing Policy Committee on Protection and 
Community Services a three-year Arts and Culture Business Plan to be adopted on 
an annual basis

• managing a conditional grant from the City designated to fund the approved 
programs

• advising the City on cultural policy

• exploring partnerships and initiatives with other funding bodies, foundations and 
other groups

• presenting to the City an annual report and an audited financial statement

• developing and maintaining a co-operative relationship with all City departments 
and staff working in cultural areas

• managing and administering the City’s Public Art Policy and Program

MISSION
The Winnipeg Arts Council funds, supports, and champions development of the arts on 
behalf of the people of Winnipeg.

VISION
Winnipeg is a creative city, where art is integrated into all people’s lives. All people 
have access to the arts, are able to participate in the arts, value the arts, and are en-
riched by the arts.

VALUES 
• The arts are essential to a vibrant and healthy community

• Artistic excellence and diversity of expression are imperative

• Grant making is based on a fair and equitable process of peer assessment

• Integrity, transparency, accountability and ethical practice are mandatory

STRATEGIC THEMES 
• Encourage a thriving community of Winnipeg artists and arts organizations

• Create accessible routes to the arts for everyone

• Enhance community livability and vibrancy through art

• Identify the central role played by the arts and artistic expression in every aspect of 
Winnipeg life

• Develop new investment and support for the arts through innovative partnerships 
and collaborations
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STAFF
Carol A. Phillips
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

tamara rae biebrich
SENIOR PROJECT MANAGER,
PUBLIC ART

Tanya Christensen
OFFICE MANAGER  
& FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATOR

Genevieve Collins 
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT
from August 2018

Trish Cooper
COMMUNICATIONS COORDINATOR

Katherine Dzbik
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 
to August 2018

Alexis Kinloch
PROJECT MANAGER, PUBLIC ART

Dominic Lloyd
PROGRAM & ARTS  
DEVELOPMENT MANAGER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHAIR
Jim August

VICE CHAIR
Jason Granger

SECRETARY-TREASURER
Andrew McLaren

PAST CHAIR
Vonnie Von Helmolt

ARTS COMMUNITY DIRECTORS
Kerry Dangerfield
Melanie Dean
Cheryl Miki
Andrea Ratuski
Cherissa Richards   

from May 2018

Ingrid Misner  from May 2018

Kristin Nelson  to May 2018

Ann Hodges  to May 2018

COUNCIL DIRECTORS
Diane Berger
Louise Duguay
Evan Klassen  to April 2018

CITY REPRESENTATIVE DIRECTORS
Councillor John Orlikow  

to November 2018

Councillor Sherri Rollins  
from November 2018

John Kiernan  non-voting

ASSESSORS
Applications to Winnipeg 
Arts Council programs are 
assessed against program 
criteria and guidelines by a 
panel of qualified persons. 
Panel members are selected 
to broadly reflect the range 
of artistic expression and 
diversity represented by  
the applicants.

GRANT PROGRAMS
Jonathan Ball
Andrea Bell
Ryan Rajendra Black
Jaime Black
Paula Blair
Jen Budney  Saskatoon, SK

Alexandra Elliott
Zoreh Gervais
Carolyn Gray
Alan Greyeyes
Jessee Havey
Gilles Hébert
Sarah Jo Kirsch
Keri Latimer
Craig Love
Claire Marshall
Ross McMillan
Doug Melnyk
Anne Molgat
Heidi Ouellette
Nicole Owens
Helga Pakasaar  

North Vancouver, BC

Paul Robles
Chris Sigurdson
Suzie Smith
Jennifer Still
Danielle Sturk
Margaret Sweatman
Isaac Thomas  Toronto, ON

Rhayne Vermette
Laurence Véron 

WINNIPEG ARTS COUNCIL AWARDS
Deco Dawson
Elvira Finnigan
Andrea Ratuski
David Alexander Robertson

PUBLIC ART ASSESSORS
Sharon Alward
Scott Benesiinaabandan
Brad Besyk
Eleanor Bond 
Sarah Ciurysek 
Heather Cram
Jesse Crowder
Shawna Dempsey
Rick Haldane-Wilsone
Tom Janzen
Niki Little 
Betty Parry
Paul Robles
Kaoru Ryan Suzuki
Jennifer Smith 
Cam Ward
Liz Wreford

PUBLIC ART COMMITTEE
Lee Caldwell
Sarah Crawley
Louise Duguay  Chair

Monica Giesbrecht
Christina Harris
Tom Janzen
Jason Kun from June

Niki Little
Gurpreet Sehra 
Jennifer Smith  from October

Marlene Stern
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